OA 11.597

## FILED

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MD J. WHITE

AUG 11 1997

PETER F. PIERPONT etc. et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

LEE COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Respondent.

CLEAK, SUPREME COUNT
By
Chief Beipery Clerk

Supreme Court Case Nos. 90,357 CONSOLIDATED 90,573

90,775

A PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
OF THREE DECISIONS OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
RENDERED IN CASE NOS. 95-04657,96-00552, AND 96-01360

### PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

William M. Powell Fla. Bar No. 343994 Co-Counsel for Petitioners Pierpont WILLIAM M. POWELL, P.A. 2002 Del Prado Blvd., Suite 105 Cape Coral, FL 33990 (941) 458-0220

#### INTRODUCTION

This is a consolidated proceeding for discretionary review of three decisions of the Second District Court of Appeal concerning the issue of attorneys' fees in eminent domain cases. This Initial Brief on the Merits is submitted on behalf of the Petitioners, PETER F. PIERPONT and MARY J. PIERPONT, Husband and Wife, A & G INVESTMENTS, a Florida general partnership, and BARNETT BANKS, INC., and they will be referred to collectively herein as "the Landowners" and individually by name. The Respondent, LEE COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Florida, was the condemner in the eminent-domain actions, and will be referred to as "the County" or "Lee County."

There are three Records before the Court, since the instant proceeding is a consolidation of three cases. Accordingly, reference to the respective Records will be indicated by "R" followed by the shortened case name and the pertinent page number(s). There is also an Appendix to this Initial Brief on the merits containing the three Second District decisions, and reference to the Appendix will be indicated by "APP" followed by the pertinent page number(s).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE & FACTS

This proceeding is a consolidation of three cases arising from decisions of the Second District Court of Appeal.<sup>1</sup> All three cases involve the proper interpretation of Section 73.092 of the Florida Statutes as amended in 1994, and this statute concerns the award of attorneys' fees in eminent-domain actions. The procedural setting of the three cases is rather unusual, and can be described as follows:

#### Pierpont, 693 So.2D 994 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1997)

The lead case of the three is the 2-1 Pierpont decision. In Pierpont the majority opinion (authored by Judge Campbell) noted that the principal issue was the proper application of Section 73.092, which states that in eminent-domain actions a trial court "shall award attorney's fees based solely on the benefits achieved for the client." (APP 1) The term "benefits" is defined by the statute to be the difference between the judgment or settlement amount and the first "written offer" made by the condemner. So under the statute, the attorney's fee is calculated solely as a percentage of the difference between the judgment/settlement amount and the first "written offer" made by the condemner. There is no definition of "written offer" in the statute, and this is the seed of the dispute in all three of these cases.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The three cases were consolidated by this Court's Order of 11 July 1997.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Prior to 1994 the statute required the court to give "greatest weight" to the benefit achieved, and prior to 1990 benefit was only one of six factors to be considered. So the importance of benefit has steadily increased to where it is now the *only* factor. Nevertheless, the definition of "benefit" has been unchanged since 1990, so the shifting in emphasis has not been accompanied by any alteration in the definition of the term.

In <u>Pierpont</u> (as well as the other two cases) there was no disagreement as to the judgment/settlement amount, <u>i.e.</u>, the top number in the benefit calculation. In <u>Pierpont</u> this top number was \$87,500, the amount of the Stipulated Judgment. (R Pierpont 23-26)

The dispute in <u>Pierpont</u> (and the other two cases) centered around the term "written offer," <u>i.e.</u>, the lower number in the calculation. In <u>Pierpont</u> the trial court held that the good-faith estimate of \$69,000 made by the County in its declaration of taking was a "written offer" under the statute, and therefore used the good-faith estimate as the bottom number in the calculation of benefits and hence attorney's fees. (R Pierpont 12-13,45-46) This resulted in an attorney's fee award of \$6,105, which was 33% of the difference between the County's good-faith estimate of \$69,000 and the Stipulated Final Judgment amount of \$87,500. (R Pierpont 12-13,23-26,45-46)

The Pierpont majority disagreed with the trial court's assessment, and held that the Legislature did not intend the good-faith estimate to be considered a "written offer" under the statute. (APP 2) There were two stated reasons for the holding: first, that a good-faith estimate of value does not comport with the <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u> definition of the term "offer", and second, that the case law shows that good-faith estimates are not to be considered evidence in eminent-domain cases. The majority recognized by its "but see" reference to a fifth district case that another district court had applied the statute differently.<sup>3</sup> (APP 3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Since the <u>Pierpont</u> majority rendered its opinion there has been an additional fifth district case construing the good-faith estimate as an offer, as well as a first district case. This will be discussed below.

The <u>Pierpont</u> majority held that the first "written offer" made by the County within the meaning of the statute was the letter from the assistant county attorney sent to the Pierponts' counsel three months after the proceedings were initiated, offering to settle the matter for \$82,800, a sum considerably greater than the County's good-faith estimate. (APP 1-2)

The <u>Pierpont</u> majority also rejected the Landowners' contention that the letter offer was not a valid and binding offer because the County had not complied with the Sunshine Law in formulating the offer. The rejection was based on two conclusions by the majority: first, that the County's pre-suit authorization to its attorney to buy property authorized the settlement offer, and was not a delegation of decision-making authority to a staff person; and second, that the Landowners "are without standing to raise the bona fides of the offer since they never sought to challenge the authority of the county attorney to make the offer until the issue on attorney's fees arose." (APP 3)

Judge Blue dissented from the majority's decision "because I believe that the good faith estimate of value should operate as an offer" under the statute. (APP 3) Judge Blue said that the constitutional considerations at play in the awardation of attorneys' fees in eminent-domain actions compelled the conclusion that a good-faith estimate is an "offer" under the statute, otherwise a landowner could be deprived of his constitutional right to fees by the machinations of the condemning authority. Judge Blue also observed that the fifth district had seemingly held contrary to the majority in a decision that will be discussed below. (APP 3)

The end result of the majority's holding in <u>Pierpont</u> is that the attorneys' fee award for the Pierponts' attorney will be reduced from \$6,105 to \$1,551, <u>i.e.</u>, 33% of the difference between the Stipulated Final Judgment amount (\$87,500) and the settlement offer made by the County in the midst of litigation (\$82,800). So for the seven months of legal representation rendered to the Pierponts by their counsel, with this representation resulting in the County paying \$18,500 more than the original good-faith estimate, a fee of \$1,551 will be awarded under the majority's holding.

#### A & G Investments, 693 So.2D 999 (Fla.2nd DCA 1997)

The same trial judge presiding in the <u>Pierpont</u> case decided two other fee disputes using the same rationale, and Lee County appealed these cases also. Less than a month after <u>Pierpont</u> was decided, the Second District rendered its decision in <u>A & G Investments</u>. The brief Opinion noted that the issue as to the interpretation of Section 73.092 had recently been determined in <u>Pierpont</u>, and thus reversed on the basis of <u>Pierpont</u> and remanded for proceedings "consistent with that opinion." (APP 6)

The facts of <u>A &G Investments</u> reveal an even bleaker fee award than in <u>Pierpont</u>. In <u>A & G</u> the County's good-faith estimate was \$725,000. (R A&G Inv. 11) After litigation was initiated the County offered to settle for \$836,000. A & G accepted this offer, and a Stipulated Final Judgment in that amount was accordingly entered. (R <u>A & G Inv.</u> 31-34)

The end result of the Second District's holding in A & G Investments is that the Landowner's counsel will receive **no** attorney's fees under the statute! This is because the Landowner accepted what the Second District has held to be the County's first offer,

which was the offer made during litigation and that was some \$111,000 more than the County's good-faith estimate. So even though the Landowner had to hire an attorney to defend the litigation, and even though the presence of that attorney resulted in compensation that was some \$111,000 more than the County's good-faith estimate, no fee award will be allowed for these services under the Second District's holding.

#### Barnett Banks, \_\_ So.2D \_\_ (Fla.2nd DCA 1997)4

The final act of the trilogy was the <u>Barnett Banks</u> case, where the Second District again reversed a fee award on the basis of its previous <u>Pierpont</u> decision. (APP 7-8) In <u>Barnett Banks</u> the good-faith estimate was \$960,000. (R Bar.Bnk. 12) After litigation was initiated the County offered \$1 million, and the case ultimately settled for \$1,060,000. (R <u>Bar.Bnk.</u> 24,55-56) The trial court held the benefit to be \$100,000, <u>i.e.</u>, the difference between the good-faith estimate and the Stipulated Final Judgment. But under the Second District's holding the benefit will only be \$60,000, <u>i.e.</u>, the difference between the litigation offer and the settlement amount. So under the Second District's holding the attorney's fee will be reduced from \$33,000 to slightly less than \$20,000.

On rehearing in <u>Barnett Banks</u> the following question was certified to this Court as being one of great public importance:

Whether the condemning authority's good faith estimate of value can be considered an "offer" for the calculation of attorney's fees under Section 73.092, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1994)?

(APP 8)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>As of this writing no Southern Second is available for the <u>Barnett Banks</u> decision. However, it can be found at 22 FLW D631 & D1283 (on rehearing), and at 1997 WL 106821.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The unique, constitutional nature of attorney's fees in eminent-domain cases requires this Court, it is respectfully submitted, to reject the <u>Pierpont</u> interpretation of the 1994 changes to the statute. The <u>Pierpont</u> interpretation would result in a landowner receiving less than full compensation in most cases, and would thus be unconstitutional. This Court can avoid the constitutional issue by rejecting the <u>Pierpont</u> interpretation.

The good-faith estimate is an "offer" within the common definition of that term. The dictionary and other Florida Statutes define an "offer" as an expression of how much a party is willing to pay for something. The legal setting of the good-faith estimate shows that this is exactly what it is—an expression by the condemning authority of what it would be willing to pay for the property. Construing the good-faith estimate as an offer as the trial court did has the added benefit of encouraging good faith by both the condemning authority and the landowner. It is therefore respectfully submitted that this Court should reject the Pierpont majority's interpretation of the statute as ill-advised, and hold instead that a good-faith estimate of value is an "offer" within the meaning of the statute and the constitutional guarantee of full compensation.

It is ironic that the <u>Pierpont</u> majority found the letter offers from the assistant county attorney to be "offers" within the meaning of the statute, since these letter offers had far less probity than the good-faith estimates. There are several reasons these letter offers were not binding upon the County. The county commission by its actions of 7 December 1994 authorized the county attorney to attempt to purchase property prior to

litigation, and did *not* authorize the county attorney to settle pending litigation. If the county commission had attempted to delegate its power to settle to the county attorney, the attempt would have been invalid and therefore the actions of the assistant county attorney would not have been binding upon the County. Such an attempted delegation would have also been in violation of the Sunshine Law, and thus invalid for a second reason.

So the bottom line is that the letter offers made by the assistant county attorney were not "offers" within the meaning of the <u>Pierpont</u> majority's own definition of the statutory term, since they were not binding upon the County. It is the Landowners' fervent belief that the County's good-faith estimates of value were "offers" under the statute, and that this Court will so hold because of the constitutional factors at play. But even if the <u>Pierpont</u> majority were correct that the good-faith estimates were not "offers" because they were not binding in the strict contractual sense, the inescapable fact is that the County's letter offers were not binding either.

So if this Court were to accept the definition of the <u>Pierpont</u> majority, it would be left to answer the uncomfortable question that was left unanswered by the <u>Pierpont</u> majority—what happens if there is no offer? It is submitted that the best answer to this question is that the good-faith estimate is an offer, hence the question does not need to be answered. But if this Court feels compelled to answer the difficult question, it is respectfully submitted that the condemner should suffer from its failure to make an offer, and that "zero" should be the bottom number in the benefit equation.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE <u>PIERPONT</u> MAJORITY ERRONEOUSLY INTERPRETED SECTION 73.092 IN AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL MANNER.

In 1994 the Legislature significantly changed Section 73.092, the statute dealing with attorney's fees in eminent-domain cases. The instant cases were initiated shortly after this effective date of the change (I October 1994). The statute now provides that the trial court "shall award attorney's fees based solely on the benefits achieved for the client." Prior to 1994 the statute said the court should give "greatest weight" to the benefits in awarding a fee, but did not require that the fee be set solely on the basis of the benefit.

Section 73.092 sets forth a definition of "benefits" to be used in the calculation of attorney's fees:

[T]he term "benefits" means the difference, exclusive of interest, between the final judgment or settlement and the last written offer made by the condemning authority before the defendant hires an attorney. If no written offer is made by the condemning authority before the defendant hires an attorney, benefits must be measured from the first written offer after the attorney is hired.

(Emphasis added.)

So "benefit" is the difference between the first offer made by the condemner and the judgment/settlement amount, and the fee is to be awarded *solely* on this basis.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>It was previously held that it was error to base an attorney's fee award solely on benefit. <u>See, e.g.</u>, Ferran Eng. v. Di-Bar Elect., 590 So.2D 1104 (Fla.5th DCA 1991). The viability of such cases after the 1994 change in the statute is open to speculation. Also on the list of unanswered questions is the continuing viability of this Court's holding in Stand Guar. Ins. Co. v. Quanstrom, 555 So.2D 828 (Fla. 1990) that no fee multiplier is necessary in an eminent-domain case because "the attorney is assured of a fee when the action commences." This is no longer true, at least in the view of the <u>Pierpont</u> majority.

The trial court held in these cases that the condemner's good-faith estimate of value was an "offer" within the meaning of the statute, but the <u>Pierpont</u> majority rejected this construction. It is respectfully submitted that a review of the total legal setting in which attorney's fees are awarded in eminent-domain actions will convince this Court that the <u>Pierpont</u> dissent and the trial court were correct in their interpretation of the statute, and that the <u>Pierpont</u> majority was wrong.

# A. Attorney's fees in eminent domain cases have a unique, constitutional stature that place them within the province of the judiciary rather than the legislature.

Any time a court is called upon to interpret a statute, the legal context of the statute must necessarily be considered. Attorney's fees in eminent-domain cases occupy a unique position of constitutional dimension in Florida, and an understanding of this distinctiveness is important in the interpretation of Section 73.092 after the 1994 amendments.

## 1. The "full compensation" due a landowner under the Florida Constitution includes attorney's fees.

Attorney's fees are a part of the constitutional right to "full compensation." In Schick v. Dept. of Agriculture, 586 So.2D 452,453 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) Judge Zehmer said, "Full compensation within the meaning of that constitutional provision [Art. X,§ 6] includes the payment of attorney's fees necessary to enforce the condemnee's rights." Judge Zehmer based his pronouncement upon a long line of decisions from this Court and the other district courts. Dade County v. Brigham, 47 So.2D 602,604-05 (Fla. 1950)(fees required by both the constitution and "sound morals"); Orange State Oil Co. v. Jacksonville Exp. Authority, 143 So.2D 892,896 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962)(attorney's fees

Preserve v. Cen. & S. Flood Control Dist., 265 So.2D 681 (Fla. 1972); DOT v. Ben Hill Griffin, Inc., 636 So.2D 825,826 (Fla.2d DCA 1994)("The purpose of the fees provision is to satisfy the state constitutional requirement that a property owner receive full compensation for the taking of private property."); Seminole County v. Butler, 676 So.2D 451 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) ("Full compensation within the meaning of our constitution includes the payment of attorney's fees . . . . "). The constitutional dimensions of the statute were not acknowledged in Pierpont, and this is the fatal flaw in the holding.

2. The determination of full compensation is a judicial function rather than a legislative one.

A second concept that is related to the constitutional stature of attorney's fees in eminent-domain cases is that the determination of full compensation is a judicial function, and the legislature may not diminish by statute the compensation constitutionally due a landowner. The leading case on this subject is <u>Daniels v. State Road Dept.</u>, 170 SO.2D 846,851 (Fla. 1964), where this Court said:

It is well settled that the determination of what is just compensation for the taking of private property for public use "is a judicial function that cannot be performed by the Legislature either directly or by any method of indirection."

See also Behm v. DOT, 383 So.2D 216,217 (Fla. 1980); State Plant Board v. Smith, 110 So.2D 401,407 (Fla. 1959); State Road Dept. v. Wingfield, 101 So.2D 184,186 (lst DCA 1958). The legislature may state a policy concerning the payment of full compensation, and the courts will give it credence if this can be constitutionally done. In Daniels v. State Road Dept., supra at 853, this Court observed:

Our conclusion in this respect is, then, that the Legislature may declare its policy with respect to the compensation that should be made in taking private property for public use; and that these declarations, while not conclusive or binding, are persuasive and will be upheld unless clearly contrary to the judicial view of the matter.

So the legislature may voice a public policy on the issue of full compensation, but it may not handcuff the judiciary in its primary role of determining what "full compensation" is under the Constitution. See also Dept. of Consumer Services v. Bonanno, 568 So.2d 24 (Fla. 1990); Crigler v. DOT, 535 So.2d 329 (Fla. lst DCA 1988)(offer-of-judgment statute constitutional because it does not deny "reasonable" attorney's fees); Makemson v. Martin County, 491 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1986)( statute creating irrebuttable presumption as to appropriate amount of attorney's fees in criminal case [also guaranteed by the constitution] invalid); 10 Fla. Jur.2d Constitutional Law §150 (1979)(legislature may regulate constitutional remedy, but may not revoke or change it, or place undue burden upon it); Homer v. State ex rel. Stewart, 28 So.2d 586,588 (Fla. 1947)(ditto). So in the final analysis the issue of full compensation is for judicial determination, and the legislature may not create irrebutable presumptions that result in a landowner receiving less than full compensation. Thus a statute pertaining to full compensation is not to be applied by

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