OA 11-5-97

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

PETER F. PIERPONT and MARY J. PIERPONT, Husband and Wife,

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners argue, contrary to rules of statutory construction, that this court should disregard the plain, clear and obvious meaning and legislative intent of Section 73.092 and instead judicially amend the instant statute because of a personal dissatisfaction with the award of attorney fees as mandated under the statute.

However, an analysis of the legislative history and intent establishes a clear purpose in the statue to create risks and consequences for parties who take unreasonable positions or attempt to abuse the eminent domain process. Moreover, when, as is in the present case, the language of the statute is plain and unambiguous, there is no reason to resort to rules of statutory construction and this Court must not create new laws to fit the Petitioner's personal wishes. In following the plain application of the statute and legislative intent the Second District Court of Appeals correctly determined the appropriate attorney fees under the statute.

There has been no showing that Section 73.092, as applied according to its plain language and intent, denied any of the Petitioners full compensation. Moreover, before the trial court, each Petitioner claimed entitlement to an attorney fee calculated pursuant to Section 73.092(1). Petitioners cannot seek the benefit of Section 73.092(1) when it suits them then challenge the statute as unconstitutional for the first time on appeal.

PIERPONT'S arguments that LEE COUNTY'S first written offer was not binding because it was the product of a violation of the Sunshine Law and an unlawful delegation of legislative authority were properly rejected by the Second District. The

Board, at duly noticed public meetings, directed the County Attorney to acquire PIERPONT'S land and make a written offer not to exceed 20% of appraised value. The County Attorney did just that. No meetings or negotiations occurred outside the Sunshine and the County Attorney did not exceed the limited authority expressly delegated by the County Commission.

ARGUMENT

Petitioners do not challenge the constitutionality of Section 73.092, Fla. Stat. (1995). Rather, Petitioners argue, under constitutional pretense, for a judicial amendment of the statute because they are dissatisfied with the amounts of the attorney fees awardable pursuant to a plain application of the statute. Contrary to the assertions of Petitioner, under the plain application of Section 73.092 as upheld in Pierpont, PIERPONT is entitled to a fee award of \$1,551.00; A&G is entitled to a fee award of \$11,287.50 and BARNETT is entitled to a fee award of \$19,800.00.1

In 1994, the Florida Legislature amended Chapter 73, Florida Statutes, relating to the calculation of eminent domain attorney fees. Section 73.092, Fla. Stat. (1995) effective October 1, 1994, states in pertinent pat-t:

- (1) Except as otherwise provided in this section, the court, in eminent domain proceedings, shall award attorney's fees based solely on the benefits achieved for the client.
 - (a) As used in this section the term "benefit" means the difference, exclusive of interest, between the final judgment or settlement and the last written offer made by the condemning authority before the defendant hires an attorney. If no written offer is made by the condemning authority before the defendant hires an attorney, benefits musts be measured from the first written offer after the attorney is hired.

Additionally, each Petitioner was awarded appellate attorney fees by the Second District even though they led the trial court to the errors which necessitated the appeals in which LEE COUNTY prevailed. For example, it defies logic and justice that A&G can lead the trial court to erroneously award \$36,630 in attorney fees based on benefit when the correct amount is \$0, necessitate an appeal to correct the error and then receive an award of appellate attorney fees to correct the error invited by A&G.

Additionally, attorney fees based on benefit shall be awarded based on a sliding scale of thirty-three (33%) percent of any benefit up to \$250,000, twenty-five (25%) percent of benefit between \$250,000 and \$1,000,000 and twenty (20%) percent of benefit over \$1,000,000. Section 73.032, Fla. Stat. (1995) was amended to permit property owners, when the amount in dispute is less than \$100,000, to make an offer of judgment to the condemnor. If the award is equal to or greater than the offer of judgment, attorney fees are calculated not solely upon the benefit obtained, but by also using the traditional lodestar criteria in Section 73.092(2), Fla. Stat. (1995).

Prior to the amendments, which became effective October 1, 1994, there was no disincentive for property owners to reasonably evaluate their claims. On the contrary, the then-existing law encouraged unnecessary litigation and expense. A property owner could force litigation without regard to the expense of attorney fees and costs because most, if not all, of this expense would be paid for by public funds regardless of the outcome.

Chapter 73, as amended, creates risks and consequences for parties that take unreasonable positions and try to abuse the eminent domain process. If a condemnor makes an unreasonable first offer, the consequence is an attorney fee award commensurate with benefit. The larger the benefit, the larger the fee the condemnor must pay. If a condemnor makes an offer, and the amount in dispute is under \$100,000, the property owner can make an offer of judgment to the condemnor pursuant to Section 73.032, Fla. Stat. (1995). Should the property owner obtain an award equal to or in excess of the amount of the offer of judgment, the attorney fee

shall be calculated using the benefit obtained and the traditional lodestar criteria in Section 73.092 (2), Fla. Stat. (1995). If a property owner takes an unreasonable position in response to a reasonable offer, the risk assumed is an award of attorney fees commensurate with the little or no benefit ultimately obtained.

THE SECOND DISTRICT CORRECTLY REJECTED PETITIONER'S ARGUMENTS TO JUDICIALLY AMEND SECTION 73.092, FLA. STAT. (1995).

Section 73.092 plainly states that the benchmark for the determination of "benefit" is a "written offer". It does not state "written offer or good faith estimate of Nature" ere in Section 73.092, or anywhere else in Chapter 73, do the words "good faith estimate of value" appear. There is a significant legal distinction between an offer and an estimate of value which will be shown below. This legal distinction was not lost upon the Florida legislature or the Second District. The Second District correctly rejected Petitioners' arguments to sanction a judicial amendment of Section 73.092 to make the good faith estimate of value, rather than the written offer as stated by the legislature, the benchmark for determining "benefit".

1. The Rules of Statutory Construction Do Not Authorize Judicial Amendment of Statutes.

Petitioners improperly invoke rules of statutory construction to amend Section 73.092(1) to justify higher attorney fee awards for themselves. A correct application of the rules of statutory construction require Petitioners' argument to fail.

The cardinal principle of statutory construction is to determine legislative intent. Consequently, if the language of the statute is plain and unambiguous, there is no reason to resort to the rules of statutory construction State v. Eaan. 287 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973). Moreover, Courts interpret and apply the laws but do not make them and may not assume the prerogative of judicially legislating. Hancock v. Board of Public Instruction of Charlotte Countv, 158 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1963). It is not the function of a court to construe a statute to produce a result it deems more appropriate when the language of the statute is clear. Pfieffer v. Citv of Tampa, 470 So.2d IO (Fla. 2d. DCA 1985). Nor is it the function of a court to supply omissions of the legislature. Devin v. City of Hollywood, 351 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976).

Statutory construction requires courts determine legislative intent from the plain language of the statute. It is assumed the legislature knew the meaning of the words used and expressed its intent by the use of the words found in the statute. S.R.G.

Corp. v. Dept of Revenue, 365 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1978). As succinctly stated in 49 Fla.

Jur. 2d, Statues §135, p. 178:

"Technical words and phrases that have acquired a peculiar and appropriate meaning in law cannot be presumed to have been used by the legislature in a loose popular sense. To the contrary, they have been presumed to have been used according to their legal meaning. They will ordinarily be interpreted not in their popular, but in their fixed legal sense and with regard to the limitations the law attaches to them. Where legal terms are used in a statute, unless a plainly contrary intention is shown, they must receive their technical meaning". (Footnotes omitted).

An additional, basic rule of statutory construction is the mention of one thing in a statute implies the exclusion of another. Thaver v. State, 335 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976).

Section 73.092 provides attorney fees shall be determined "solely on the benefits achieved for the client" with "benefit" defined as the difference between the "first written offer" and the amount of the final judgment or settlement. Section 73.092 plainly states that "benefit" is to be measured from the "first written offer". The plain language of the statute is "written offer". This language does not lend itself to any other interpretation. Equally significant is the fact that nowhere in Section 73.092 do the words "good faith estimate" appear. Had the legislature intended to measure benefits from the "good faith estimate" it could have done so quite easily by simply inserting those three words. It did not. On the contrary, the statute expressly says "offer" and implicitly excludes "good faith estimate" as the benchmark from which to measure benefits. The word "offer" has a specific, legal meaning.

The legislature is assumed to know the meaning of the word "offer" and to have used it according to its legal meaning and not its loose, popular meaning as argued by Petitioners. Further support for this assumption is found in the various statutes cited by Petitioners.

Numerous regulatory statutes were cited by Petitioners in which the legislature defined "offer" for use in the context of those statutes. The definitions of "offer" in those statutes were substantially broader than the legal meaning of the word. If as Petitioners argue, the loose, more expansive definition of "offer" was intended by the legislature in Section 73.092, why did the legislature deem it necessary to provide an expansive

definition of "offer" in the statutes cited by Petitioners? Why did not the legislature just use "offer" in those statutes without including a definition? Because it wished to broaden the definition of "offer" from its legal meaning for use in the context of those statutes.

The legislature used "offer" with its legal meaning in Section 73.092 for a reason. Despite Petitioners vigorous arguments that the good faith estimate constitutes a binding obligation of the condemnor, until the condemnor deposits money in accordance with the order of taking, there is no taking of property, and hence, no obligation of the condemnor to pay compensation. The only way a condemnor could be obligated to pay compensation to a landowner prior to the taking of property is to be contractually obligated to do so. The only way a contract can be formed between a condemnor and a landowner to purchase real property is by acceptance of a written offer, The word "offer" has a specific legal meaning in the law of contracts and real property, not a loose, expansive meaning as argued by Petitioners.

Section 73.092 unequivocally states that the benchmark for the determination of "benefit" is a "written offer". It is hornbook law that an "offer" is a proposal to do a thing or pay an amount that creates a power of acceptance in the offeree which, upon acceptance creates a binding contractual obligation.² A good faith estimate of value is just that • an estimate of value. Nothing more.

BARNETTS' own expert witness, Attorney Hume, provided the same definition of "offer" (Barnett R. 45-46).

Petitioners argue for a judicial "interpretation" of Section 73.092 that will legally empower property owners to unilaterally transform an estimate of value into a binding offer. Not only would such a rule of law be contrary to the law of eminent domain, and the established law of contracts and real property, it would transfer the authority to decide whether to proceed with an eminent domain proceeding from the public body to the property owner contrary to the public policy of this statute.

Neither the estimate of value as stated in Declaration of Taking nor the amount which is deposited pursuant to the Order of Taking have the effect of establishing the minimum compensation due the owner. Bainbridae v. State Road Dept., 139 So.2d 714 (Fla 1st DCA 1962). The Declaration of Taking cannot be construed as an offer since the condemning authority is not bound by its estimate of value and is free to contest the issue of full compensation by presenting testimony of a lower or higher value to a jury. Jacksonville Exaresswav Authority v. Bennett, 158 So.2d 821 (Fla 1st DCA 1964). Likewise, the good faith estimate of value and withdrawal of deposit does not bind the owner. Shannon Properties. Inc. v. Tampa-Hillsborouah County. Expressway Authority, 605 So.2d 594 (Fla 2d DCA 1992); Florida East Coast Railway. Company v. Broward County, 421 So.2d 681 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

Since the good faith estimate of value is not binding upon the condemnor and does not establish the minimum compensation due the owner, it cannot be seriously

Since the estimate of value is not binding on the condemnor, how can a property owner unilaterally make it so by declaring it an "offer" and accepting it?

suggested that it constitutes an offer. Accordingly, the owners' withdrawal of the deposit or failure to contest the estimate of value does not constitute a binding "acceptance" of the good faith estimate of value. If the estimate of value is an offer as argued by Petitioners, the withdrawal of the estimate of value by Petitioners was a final "acceptance" of the condemnor's "offer" vitiating the need for a trial or any discussion of attorney's fees.

Contrary to Petitioners' assertion, the good faith estimate of value is not the condemnors' opinion of full compensation. It is an <u>estimate</u> of value. Full compensation is a matter which the condemnor, like the owner, has a right to have determined by a jury. It is not uncommon for a condemnor to have two appraisals for one parcel. See for example Section 125.355(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1995). Nor is it uncommon to have a different opinion of value at the trial • either higher or lower than the estimate - due to discovery of additional facts relating to a parcel's value or additional comparable sales that were transacted after the initial appraisal(s).

Petitioners' argument that the good faith estimate of value or its deposit constitutes a binding offer is also contrary to the purposes and terms of Chapter 74, Florida Statues. For example, Section 74.071 provides the condemnor is entitled to judgment against the owner for any excess should the final judgment be less than the good faith deposit that was withdrawn. Additionally, Section 74.051 (b) requires a nonpublic condemning authority to deposit tlfride its good faith estimate of value.

e deposit of the good faith estimate of value constitutes an offer, then every time a nonpublic condemnor condemns property it is assured of paying at least twice its good

faith estimate of value. Section 74.051 (c) provides that the Order of Taking shall become effective and title passes to the condemning authority upon the deposit of the good faith estimate. If the condemnor does not make the deposit, title does not pass and the Order of Taking is void. ⁴ Petitioners' interpretation renders Section 74.051 (c) inoperative since an owner can "accept" the good faith estimate and thereby bind the condemning authority to purchase the property at the good faith estimate. That is simply not the law and for good reason.

A public body must retain discretion to proceed with or abandon eminent domain proceedings. Until funds are deposited pursuant to an order of taking, there is no taking of property and Article X, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution does not compel compensation unless and until there is a takina of property. A public body may elect to abandon an eminent domain proceeding for a variety of reasons - including failure of funding, denial of permits, discovery of previously unknown conditions on the property or the abandonment of the project for which the property was to be acquired. Under Petitioners' argument, a property owner can "accept" the estimate of value thereby obligating the public body to buy the property even though the public body did not intend to be bound by the estimate.

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